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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

WESTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

BLAIR DOUGLASS, on behalf of himself and all 

others similarly situated, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

iFIT INC., 

Defendant. 

Civil Action No. 2:23-cv-00917-MJH 

PLAINTIFF’S UNOPPOSED MOTION TO CERTIFY CLASS FOR SETTLEMENT 

PURPOSES AND FOR PRELIMINARY APPROVAL OF 

CLASS ACTION SETTLEMENT 

Plaintiff Blair Douglass, on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated, hereby 

moves pursuant to Rule 23(e) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure for an order conditionally 

certifying a class for settlement purposes, preliminarily approving the settlement, approving the 

proposed notice and notice plan, and setting aside dates for the submission of objections to the 

settlement and a fairness hearing. It is Plaintiff’s understanding that Defendant iFIT Inc. does 

not oppose the relief sought in this motion. In support of this motion, Plaintiff states as follows: 

1. In July 2020, Plaintiff attempted to access Defendant’s online store, located at

https://www.nordictrack.com/. (Doc. 1, ¶¶ 25-26, 46.) 

2. Plaintiff could not access Defendant’s online store because it was not compatible

with screen reader auxiliary aids, which Plaintiff uses to access digital content because he is blind. 1

(Doc. 1, ¶¶ 21, 39, 45-46.) 

1 Plaintiff uses the word “blind” to describe people who, as a result of a visual impairment, have 
substantially limited eyesight. This includes people who have no vision at all as well as those who 

have low vision. See James H. Omvig, Why Use the Word “Blind”?, Braille Monitor (Jan. 2009), 

https://nfb.org//sites/default/files/images/nfb/publications/bm/bm09/bm0901/bm090107.htm. 
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3. In June 2022, Plaintiff returned to https://www.nordictrack.com/ and also visited

Defendant’s other online stores located at https://www.proform.com/, 

https://freemotionfitness.com/, and https://www.ifit.com/, and found that they continued to deny 

him full and equal access. Defendant’s mobile application and websites are referred to collectively 

as “Digital Properties.” (Doc. 1, ¶¶ 26, 48.) 

4. In May 2023, Plaintiff filed a class action complaint seeking declaratory and

injunctive relief, alleging that Defendant does not have, and has never had, adequate policies and 

practices to cause its online store to be accessible to blind persons, in violation of Title III of the 

Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12181, et seq., and its implementing regulations. 

(Doc. 1.) 

5. In October 2023, Plaintiff notified the Court that the parties had agreed to settle this

case on a class action basis. (Doc. 11.) 

6. On October 5, 2023, after years of good faith negotiations, the parties executed a

proposed class action settlement agreement (“Agreement”). 2

7. The Agreement resolves this action and defines the settlement class as “all Blind or

Visually Disabled persons who have accessed, attempted to access, or been deterred from 

attempting to access, or who will access, attempt to access, or be deterred from accessing the 

Digital Properties from the United States.” 

8. Under the terms of the Agreement, 3 Defendant shall ensure that blind or visually

disabled individuals have full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, privileges, 

advantages, and accommodations provided by and through the Digital Properties, including any 

2 The Agreement and long-form notice are attached to this motion as Exhibit 1. 

3 The terms of the Agreement are explained more fully in the accompanying memorandum. 
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website which Defendant develops, starts to operate, or acquires and which is publicly available 

in the United States. 

9. The Agreement, notice, and notice plan 4 are comparable to or more robust than

class action settlements resolving nearly identical claims that courts in this District approved in 

Murphy v. The Hundreds Is Huge, Inc., No. 1:21-cv-00204, 2022 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 211942 (W.D. 

Pa. Nov. 17, 2022) (Lanzillo, J.), Murphy v. Eyebobs, LLC, No. 1:21-cv-00017, Doc. 49 (W.D. Pa. 

Feb. 9, 2022) (Lanzillo, J.), Murphy v. Charles Tyrwhitt, Inc., No. 1:20-cv-00056, Doc. 47 (W.D. 

Pa. Feb. 16, 2022) (Baxter, J.), Douglass v. Optavia LLC, No. 2:22-cv-00594, Doc. 38 (W.D. Pa. 

Jan. 23, 2023) (Wiegand, J.), Douglass v. P.C. Richard & Son, LLC, No. 2:22-cv-00399, Doc. 55 

(W.D. Pa. June 27, 2023) (Kelly, J.), Murphy v. Le Sportsac, Inc., No. 1:22-cv-00058, Doc. 57 

(W.D. Pa. July 6, 2023) (Lanzillo, J.), and Douglass v. Mondelēz Global LLC, No. 2:22-cv-00875, 

Doc. 26 (W.D. Pa. Sept. 19, 2023) (Hardy, J.), and that the District of Massachusetts approved in 

Giannaros v. Poly-Wood, LLC, No. 1:21-cv-10351, Doc. 45 (D. Mass. Oct. 27, 2022). 

10. Given the substantial relief obtained and the inherent risks of continued litigation,

the settlement is fair, reasonable, and adequate. The proposed agreement is on par with, or exceeds, 

the relief achieved in analogous cases brought by the National Federation of the Blind and the 

Civil Rights Division of the U.S. Department of Justice, and in the cases cited in the preceding 

paragraph. It was reached after years of good faith negotiations at arm’s length. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Court: 

(A) Certify the class for settlement purposes, appoint Plaintiff as class representative,

and appoint Plaintiff’s counsel as class counsel; 5

4 The proposed notice plan is attached to this motion as Exhibit 2. 

5 Plaintiff’s counsel’s resumes are attached to this motion as Exhibit 3. 
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(B) Preliminarily approve the settlement as set forth in the proposed agreement; and

(C) Approve the notice and notice plan, including, among other dates, by setting:

(1) A date twenty-one (21) days after the Court grants preliminary approval as

the deadline for the parties to publish notice of the settlement (“Notice Deadline”); 

(2) A date forty-five (45) days after the Notice Deadline as the deadline for

Plaintiff to move for reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; 

(3) A date sixty (60) days after the Notice Deadline as the deadline for the

submission of any objections to the settlement; and 

(4) A date ninety (90) days after the Notice Deadline for a final approval

hearing, or as soon thereafter as the Court may set the hearing. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Dated: November 10, 2023 /s/ Kevin W. Tucker 

Kevin W. Tucker (He/Him) (PA 312144) 

Kevin J. Abramowicz (He/Him) (PA 320659) 

Chandler Steiger (She/Her) (PA 328891) 

Stephanie Moore (She/Her) (PA 329447) 

EAST END TRIAL GROUP LLC 

6901 Lynn Way, Suite 215 

Pittsburgh, PA 15208 

Tel. (412) 877-5220 

ktucker@eastendtrialgroup.com 

kabramowicz@eastendtrialgroup.com 

csteiger@eastendtrialgroup.com 

smoore@eastendtrialgroup.com 

Counsel for Plaintiff 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that, on November 10, 2023, a true and correct copy of the foregoing 

document was filed and served by way of the Court’s CM/ECF system on all counsel of record. 

Dated: November 10, 2023 /s/ Kevin W. Tucker 

Kevin W. Tucker 
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Exhibit 1: 

Class Action Settlement Agreement and Long-

Form Notice 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
WESTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

BLAIR DOUGLASS, on behalf of himself and all 
similarly situated individuals, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

iFIT INC., 

Defendant. 

Civil Action No. 2:23-cv-917-MJH 

CLASS SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT 
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Class Settlement Agreement 

1. Introduction. This Class Settlement Agreement (all capitalized terms have the meanings 
set forth in Section 2) is entered into by and between iFIT Inc. and any successors and 
assigns (collectively, “iFIT”) and Blair Douglass, individually and on behalf of the 
Settlement Class. 

1.1. iFIT owns, operates, and controls the Website and Mobile App, which are open to 
consumers in the United States through the internet. 

1.2. This Agreement applies to the Website and Mobile App, New Websites and Mobile 
Apps, and Subsequently Acquired Websites and Mobile Apps, but not to 
Subsequently Abandoned Websites and Mobile Apps. 

1.3. Mr. Douglass uses screen reader auxiliary aids to access digital information and is 
a person with a disability as that term is used ADA. Mr. Douglass has attempted to 
patronize the Website and intends to do so again in the future. 

1.4. On or about May 31, 2023, Mr. Douglass filed the Lawsuit, in which Mr. Douglass 
asserts that iFIT’s Website and Mobile App are not fully accessible to blind or 
visually disabled individuals, in violation of the ADA. iFIT denies liability for all 
claims asserted against it in the Lawsuit. 

1.5. The Parties desire to avoid the necessity, expense, inconvenience and uncertainty 
of litigation and have agreed to effect a complete resolution and settlement of all 
claims, disputes and controversies relating to the allegations of Mr. Douglass and 
the Settlement Class, and to resolve their differences and disputes by settling the 
Lawsuit pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, without this Agreement 
constituting evidence of admission by any Party regarding any claim, counterclaim, 
or any issue of fact or law that was asserted or could have been asserted in the 
Lawsuit. 

2. Definitions. 

2.1. “Accessible” or “Accessibility” refers to digital content that provides reasonably 
effective communication, as that term is used in 28 C.F.R. § 36.303(c), to all Blind 
and Visually Disabled persons in substantial compliance with the success criteria 
of the WCAG 2.1. 

2.2. “Accessibility Audit” means the initial audit of the Website described in Section 
8 of this Agreement. 
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2.3. “Accessibility Coordinator” means the person designated by iFIT to serve in the 
role described in Section 6 of this Agreement. 

2.4. “Accessibility Consultant” means the person designated by iFIT to serve in the 
role described in Section 7 of this Agreement. 

2.5. “Accessibility Training” means ADA/WCA 2.1 training provided by the 
Accessibility Consultant to relevant iFIT Personnel. 

2.6. “Accessibility Webpages” means the webpages that describe iFIT’s commitment 
to accessibility and inclusion for Blind and Visually Disabled persons, solicit 
feedback from visitors to the Digital Properties on how the Accessibility of the 
Digital Properties can be improved for Blind and Visually Disabled persons, and 
include an Accessible means of submitting Accessibility questions and problems, 
including a telephone number and an email address to provide feedback about the 
Accessibility of the Digital Properties. 

2.7. “ADA” means Title III of the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12181 
et seq., and its implementing regulations. 

2.8. “Agreement” means this Class Settlement Agreement. 

2.9. “Agreement Term” means the time from the Effective Date of this Agreement 
through the end of three (3) years from the Effective Date of this Agreement. 

2.10. “Annual Report” means a document iFIT submits to Class Counsel each year 
during the Agreement Term and, if applicable, the First Extended Agreement Term 
and Second Extended Agreement Term, stating the status of this Agreement’s 
implementation and attaching any relevant material described in Sections 5.3, 7.4, 
8.3, 9.4, 10.5, 11.3, 12.4 and 13.3 of this Agreement. The “First Annual Report” 
means the Annual Report iFIT submits to Class Counsel within thirty (30) calendar 
days of the first anniversary of the Effective Date of this Agreement, the “Second 
Annual Report” means the Annual Report iFIT submits to Class Counsel within 
thirty (30) calendar days of the second anniversary of the Effective Date of this 
Agreement, the “Third Annual Report” means the Annual Report iFIT submits to 
Class Counsel within thirty (30) calendar days of the third anniversary of the 
Effective Date of this Agreement.  If applicable, the “Fourth Annual Report” 
means the Annual Report iFIT submits to Class Counsel within thirty (30) calendar 
days of the fourth anniversary of the Effective Date of this Agreement and the 
“Fifth Annual Report” means the Annual Report iFIT submits to Class Counsel 
within thirty (30) calendar days of the fifth anniversary of the Effective Date of this 
Agreement. 
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2.11. “Blind” and/or “Visually Disabled” means a person with a physical impairment 
that substantially limits the major life activity of seeing, as defined by the ADA, 42 
U.S.C. § 12102(1)-(2). 

2.12. “Class Counsel” means Kevin Tucker, Kevin Abramowicz, Stephanie Moore, and 
Chandler Steiger of East End Trial Group LLC. 

2.13. “Costs” means all out-of-pocket expenses reasonably incurred and shall include 
(but not be limited to) amounts payable to experts. 

2.14. “Court” means United States District Court for the Western District of 
Pennsylvania. 

2.15. “Customer Service Personnel” means a person designated by iFIT to serve in the 
role described in Section 12 of this Agreement. 

2.16. “Digital Properties” means the Website, Mobile App, New Websites and Mobile 
Apps, and Subsequently Acquired Websites and Mobile Apps. 

2.17. “Dispute Resolution Procedure” means the process described in Section 18 of 
this Agreement. 

2.18. “Effective Date” means the date on which all conditions precedent set forth in 
Section 3 of this Agreement are completed. 

2.19. “End User Testing” means testing to be performed by individuals who have 
training and experience in the manner in which Blind or Visually Disabled 
individuals use a screen reader to navigate, browse, and conduct business online, to 
evaluate whether the Digital Properties are Accessible. 

2.20. “Final Approval” means approval given in a written order to this Agreement by a 
United States District Court Judge or United States Magistrate Judge of competent 
jurisdiction after notice to the Settlement Class and a hearing. 

2.21. “First Extended Agreement Term” means the time from the end of the 
Agreement Term through the end of four (4) years from the Effective Date of this 
Agreement. 

2.22. “iFIT Mobile App” means the iFIT At-Home Workout & Fitness mobile 
application that is publicly available to consumers in the United States through the 
Apple App Store. 
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2.23. “iFIT Personnel” means all persons who are employed by iFIT and who have 
managerial responsibility for the design and development of the Digital Properties. 

2.24. “Injunctive Releasing Parties” means Mr. Douglass and all Settlement Class 
Members, and each of their executors, successors, heirs, assigns, administrators, 
agents and representatives. 

2.25. “Lawsuit” means Douglass v. iFIT Inc., Case No. 2:23-cv-917-MJH (W.D. Pa.). 

2.26. “Letter of Accessibility” means a letter issued by the Accessibility Consultant at 
the end of the Agreement Term and, if applicable, the end of the First Extended 
Agreement Term, describing the Accessibility Audit and QA Monitoring 
performed by the Accessibility Consultant on the Digital Properties, identifying 
steps taken, if necessary, to ensure the Accessibility of the U.S. portion of the 
Digital Properties, and recommending additional steps, if any, to ensure the U.S. 
portion of the Digital Properties become Accessible within the following twelve 
(12) months. 

2.27. “Long-Form Notice” means the “Notice of Proposed Settlement of Class Action 
Lawsuit” attached to this Agreement as Exhibit 1. 

2.28. “Mobile App” means any mobile application that iFIT operates and that is publicly 
available to consumers in the United States as of the Effective Date of this 
Agreement. 

2.29. “Modified Bug Fix Priority Policies” refer to the policies described in Section 11 
of this Agreement. 

2.30. “New Websites and Mobile Apps” means any website or mobile application that 
iFIT develops and starts to operate and makes publicly available to consumers in 
the United States after the Effective Date of this Agreement and is not a 
Subsequently Abandoned Website or Mobile App. 

2.31. “Notice Deadline” means the deadline for publishing notice to be set by the Court 
as part of the Preliminary Approval process. 

2.32. “Party” refers to iFIT, Mr. Douglass, or the Settlement Class. 

2.33. “Parties” refers to iFIT, Mr. Douglass, and the Settlement Class. 

2.34. “Preliminary Approval” means the initial approval by the Court of the terms of 
this Agreement, which will occur before any notice is provided in accordance with 
this Agreement. 
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2.35. “QA Monitoring” means automated monitoring and End User Testing of selected 
websites and/or mobile applications for substantial compliance with WCAG 2.1 
performed by the Accessibility Consultant. 

2.36. “Released Injunctive Claims” means any and all claims, rights, demands, charges, 
complaints, actions, suits and causes of action, whether known or unknown, 
suspected or unsuspected, accrued or unaccrued, for injunctive, declaratory, or non-
monetary relief, based on the Accessibility of the Digital Properties to Blind and 
Visually Disabled persons, including any injunctive, declaratory, or non-monetary 
claims under: (i) the ADA; and/or (ii) any similar or related state or local statutory, 
administrative, regulatory or code provisions. The “Released Injunctive Claims” 
cover all conduct concerning the Accessibility of the Digital Properties through the 
Agreement Term and, if applicable, the First Extended Agreement Term and 
Second Extended Agreement Term. 

2.37. “Second Extended Agreement Term” means the time from the end of the First 
Extended Agreement Term through the end of five (5) years from the Effective 
Date of this Agreement. 

2.38. “Settlement Class” or “Settlement Class Members” means all Blind or Visually 
Disabled persons who have accessed, attempted to access, or been deterred from 
attempting to access, or who will access, attempt to access, or be deterred from 
accessing the Digital Properties from the United States. 

2.39. “Settlement Website” means the website located at 
https://www.iFITADAsettlement.com. 

2.40. “Subsequently Abandoned Websites and Mobile Apps” means any website or 
mobile application, including the Digital Properties, that iFIT ceases to operate or 
make available to consumers in the United States after the Effective Date of this 
Agreement. 

2.41. “Subsequently Acquired Websites and Mobile Apps” means any website or 
mobile application that iFIT acquires from a third party and starts to operate and 
makes publicly available to consumers in the United States after the Effective Date 
of this Agreement, and is not a Subsequently Abandoned Website or Mobile App. 

2.42. “Third-Party Content” means technologies provided by someone other than iFIT 
(a “Technology Provider”) and used on the Digital Properties to transfer data and 
content between the Technology Provider and consumers’ browsers. Examples of 
Third-Party Content may include instant messengers (e.g., LiveChat), technology 
that allows consumers to make installment payments (e.g., Klarna, Affirm, Sezzle, 
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and Afterpay), accessibility overlays (e.g., accessiBe and UserWay), and 
advertisements displayed in pop-up windows. 

2.43. “WCAG 2.1” means Web Content Accessibility Guidelines 2.1, including the 
WAI-ARIA, and/or the BBC Mobile Accessibility Standards and Guidelines 
currently available at: 

https://www.bbc.co.uk/accessibility/forproducts/guides/mobile/ 

2.44. “Website” means any website that iFIT operates and which is publicly available to 
consumers in the United States as of the Effective Date of this Agreement, 
including but not limited to https://www.nordictrack.com/, 
https://www.proform.com/, https://freemotionfitness.com/, and 
https://www.ifit.com/. 

3. Conditions Precedent. This Agreement shall be conditioned and effective only upon the 
occurrence of all of the following events: 

3.1. The Court grants Preliminary Approval of this Agreement, and orders certification 
of the Settlement Class and notice to the Settlement Class Members. 

3.2. Notice is provided to the Settlement Class in accordance with Section 23 of this 
Agreement. 

3.3. The Court grants Final Approval of this Agreement and enters Judgment in 
accordance with the terms set forth herein after a fairness hearing has been 
conducted, and all such orders and approvals have become final and non-
appealable. 

4. iFIT Shall Use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to Ensure its Digital Properties are 
Accessible. iFIT shall use commercially reasonable efforts to ensure Blind or Visually 
Disabled persons enjoy full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, 
privileges, advantages, and accommodations provided by and through the Digital 
Properties as provided for in this Section: 

4.1. No later than the end of the Agreement Term, iFIT shall use commercially 
reasonable efforts to ensure the U.S. portion of the Website and Mobile App is 
Accessible. 

4.2. iFIT shall use commercially reasonable efforts to ensure the U.S. portion of any 
New Websites and Mobile Apps are Accessible at the time of their release. 
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4.3. iFIT shall use commercially reasonable efforts to ensure the U.S. portion of 
Subsequently Acquired Websites and Mobile Apps are Accessible no later than the 
end of the Agreement Term or twelve (12) months after iFIT’s acquisition of the 
Subsequently Acquired Website or Mobile App, whichever is later. 

5. Third-Party Content. 

5.1. iFIT shall not be required to ensure Third-Party Content is Accessible, but shall use 
commercially reasonable efforts to ensure Third-Party Content is Accessible if the 
Third-Party Content is necessary for Blind and Visually Disabled persons to 
complete a purchase or utilize a chatbot or similar virtual assistant service on a 
Digital Property. 

5.2. After the Effective Date of this Agreement, for each new, renewed, or renegotiated 
contract with a vendor of Third-Party Content, iFIT shall seek a commitment from 
the vendor to provide content in a format that substantially complies with WCAG 
2.1 or can be made by iFIT to substantially comply with WCAG 2.1. If during this 
contracting process iFIT issues a request for proposal for development or inclusion 
of Third-Party Content on the Digital Properties, then iFIT shall include substantial 
compliance with WCAG 2.1 as a criterion. For Third-Party Content that is not 
subject to a written contract, iFIT shall seek out such content that substantially 
complies with WCAG 2.1, which may include discussions with vendors to provide 
content in a format that substantially complies with WCAG 2.1 or can be made by 
iFIT to substantially comply with WCAG 2.1. 

5.3. If, after following the process set forth in Section 5.2, iFIT is unable to obtain Third-
Party Content that substantially complies with WCAG 2.1, it shall demonstrate 
through its Annual Report to the Class Counsel and Mr. Douglass that obtaining or 
providing Third-Party Content that substantially complies with WCAG 2.1 would 
fundamentally alter the nature of its Digital Properties, goods and services or would 
result in an undue burden. 

6. Accessibility Coordinator. 

6.1. Within three (3) months of the Effective Date of this Agreement, iFIT shall 
designate an employee as the Accessibility Coordinator, approved by Mr. Douglass 
and Class Counsel, for the Digital Properties, which approval shall not be 
unreasonably withheld. 

6.2. The Accessibility Coordinator shall report directly to iFIT’s Chief Product Officer 
and shall be responsible for coordinating iFIT’s compliance with Sections 8, 9, and 
13 of this Agreement. 
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6.3. iFIT must seek and obtain approval of Class Counsel and Mr. Douglass prior to 
appointing a new individual as Accessibility Coordinator during the Agreement 
Term, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

6.4. iFIT shall have a designated Accessibility Coordinator through at least the 
Agreement Term, and, if applicable, the First Extended Agreement Term and 
Second Extended Agreement Term. 

7. Accessibility Consultant and Letter of Accessibility. 

7.1. No later than six (6) months after the Effective Date of this Agreement, iFIT shall 
retain an Accessibility Consultant who is knowledgeable about digital accessibility, 
the ADA, and WCAG 2.1, and is approved by Mr. Douglass and Class Counsel, 
which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

7.2. The Accessibility Consultant’s duties shall include: (a) assisting iFIT to conduct an 
Accessibility Audit of www.nordictrack.com and the iFIT Mobile App as described 
in Section 8; (b) advising iFIT, if necessary, on how to make www.nordictrack.com 
and the iFIT Mobile App Accessible; (c) providing Accessibility Training to 
relevant iFIT Personnel to allow iFIT to take commercially reasonable efforts to 
ensure the Digital Properties will be Accessible prospectively; (d) providing annual 
QA Monitoring, as described in Section 13, for each year of the Agreement Term 
after the first year, including the First Extended Agreement Term and the Second 
Extended Agreement Term, if applicable; and (e) providing iFIT a Letter of 
Accessibility before the end of the Agreement Term and, if applicable, the end of 
the First Extended Agreement Term. 

7.3. iFIT must seek and obtain approval of Mr. Douglass and Class Counsel prior to 
appointing a new individual as Accessibility Consultant during the Agreement 
Term, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

7.4. iFIT shall include a copy of the most recently issued Letter of Accessibility as an 
exhibit to the Third Annual Report and, if applicable, the Fourth Annual Report. 

8. Accessibility Audit.  

8.1. No later than ten (10) months after the Effective Date of this Agreement, iFIT’s 
Accessibility Consultant shall complete an Accessibility Audit as to 
www.nordictrack.com and the iFIT Mobile App, which are technologically 
representative of the Digital Properties. 

8.2. The Accessibility Audit shall be conducted in a professional manner and shall be 
benchmarked by appropriate processes, including automated and End User Testing 
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of specified web screens and pages, consistent with the Accessibility Consultant’s 
recommendations. 

8.3. iFIT shall provide a copy of the results of the Accessibility Audit as an exhibit to 
the First Annual Report. 

9. Accessibility Training. 

9.1. No later than twelve (12) months after the Effective Date of this Agreement, iFIT’s 
Accessibility Consultant shall provide Accessibility Training so that iFIT Personnel 
are trained in methods designed to ensure the Digital Properties are and remain 
Accessible. 

9.2. The Accessibility Training shall be recorded and made available, along with all 
relevant materials, to newly-hired iFIT Personnel within ninety (90) calendar days 
of the date they begin employment at iFIT. 

9.3. During the second two years of the Agreement Term and, if applicable, the First 
Extended Agreement Term and Second Extended Agreement Term, iFIT shall 
provide refresher accessibility training to iFIT Personnel. 

9.4. iFIT shall provide a copy of any Accessibility Training recordings and materials 
developed or utilized during the prior calendar year as an exhibit to the Annual 
Report. 

10. Accessibility Webpages.  

10.1. During the Agreement Term and, if applicable, the First Extended Agreement Term 
and Second Extended Agreement Term, iFIT shall continue to maintain 
Accessibility Webpages. 

10.2. No later than twelve (12) months after the Effective Date of this Agreement, iFIT 
shall add invisible anchor text in the header of the homepage of the Website and 
Mobile App which reads, “Click to view our Accessibility Page.” The anchor text 
shall redirect consumers to the Website’s and Mobile App’s respective 
Accessibility Webpages. 

10.3. iFIT shall include invisible anchor text in the header of the homepage of any New 
Websites and Mobile Apps at the time of their release, which reads, “Click to view 
our Accessibility Page.” The anchor text shall redirect consumers to the New 
Websites’ and Mobile Apps’ respective Accessibility Webpages. 

Case 2:23-cv-00917-MJH   Document 13-1   Filed 11/10/23   Page 13 of 34 



10 

10.4. Within three (3) months of their acquisition, iFIT shall add invisible anchor text in 
the header of the homepage of any Subsequently Acquired Websites and Mobile 
Apps, which text reads, “Click to view our Accessibility Page.” The anchor text 
shall redirect consumers to the Subsequently Acquired Websites’ and Mobile Apps’ 
respective Accessibility Webpages. 

10.5. iFIT shall confirm the addition of any invisible anchor text required by Sections 
10.2, 10.3, or 10.4 during the prior calendar year in the Annual Report. 

11. Modified Bug Fix Priority Policies. 

11.1. No later than eighteen (18) months after the Effective Date of this Agreement, iFIT 
shall make reasonable efforts to modify existing bug fix policies, practices, and 
procedures, if necessary, to include the elimination of bugs that create Accessibility 
barriers so that the Digital Properties substantially comply with WCAG 2.1. 

11.2. The Modified Bug Fix Priority Policies shall reflect reasonable efforts to ensure 
that any bugs that create Accessibility barriers to the Digital Properties are 
remedied to the extent required under the ADA with the same level of priority (e.g., 
speed, resources used to remediate) as any other equivalent bugs that create a loss 
of function for individuals without disabilities. 

11.3. iFIT shall provide a copy of the Modified Bug Fix Priority Policies as an exhibit to 
the Second Annual Report. 

12. Customer Service Personnel. 

12.1. No later than eighteen (18) months after the Effective Date of this Agreement, iFIT 
shall designate and train no fewer than two (2) Customer Service Personnel to 
receive and prioritize calls from Blind or Visually Disabled persons who encounter 
difficulties using the Digital Properties, and to timely assist such persons within 
iFIT’s published hours of operation. 

12.2. The Customer Service Personnel will be instructed to prioritize electronic or written 
form communications from Blind or Visually Disabled persons who encounter 
difficulties using the Digital Properties, and to timely assist such users within iFIT’s 
published hours of operation. 

12.3. Should any complaint or issue that directly concerns compliance with the terms of 
this Agreement be made to a Customer Service Personnel, such Customer Service 
Personnel shall be instructed to forward said complaint or issue to the Accessibility 
Coordinator, who shall be instructed to forward such complaint or issue to Class 
Counsel and Mr. Douglass as soon as practicable but not less than fifteen (15) 

Case 2:23-cv-00917-MJH   Document 13-1   Filed 11/10/23   Page 14 of 34 



11 

business days of the Accessibility Coordinator’s receipt of such complaint or issue. 
To the extent there is a dispute over any such complaint or issue that is not resolved, 
iFIT, Class Counsel, or Mr. Douglass may submit it to the Dispute Resolution 
Procedure. 

12.4. iFIT shall provide a copy of any customer service training materials used during 
the Customer Service Personnel training referenced in Section 12.1 as an exhibit to 
the Second Annual Report. 

13. Annual QA Monitoring. 

13.1. During the second and third years of the Agreement Term and, if applicable, the 
First Extended Agreement Term and Second Extended Agreement Term, the 
Accessibility Consultant shall perform annual QA Monitoring on two of the Digital 
Properties. Each year, the QA Monitoring will be conducted on two different 
Digital Properties than the Digital Properties assessed in the prior year. 

13.2. The QA Monitoring shall be conducted in a professional manner and shall be 
benchmarked by appropriate processes, including automated and End-User Testing 
of specified web screens and pages, consistent with the Accessibility Consultant’s 
recommendations. 

13.3. iFIT shall provide copies of the results of QA Monitoring completed during the 
prior calendar year as an exhibit to the Second Annual Report, the Third Annual 
Report and, if applicable, the Fourth Annual Report and the Fifth Annual Report. 

13.4. After receiving the results of QA Monitoring, iFIT will use commercially 
reasonable efforts to promptly remediate any Accessibility issues identified to the 
extent required under the ADA.  If the QA Monitoring process demonstrates that 
iFIT has fallen materially short of its obligations to make the Digital Properties 
Accessible, meaning that iFIT has systematically failed to timely receive a Letter 
of Accessibility, the Parties will meet and confer regarding a reasonable course of 
action, which may include more widespread QA Monitoring or a more frequent 
End User Testing requirement. 

14. Agreement Term. The Agreement Term shall be three (3) years from the Effective Date 
of this Agreement with the possibility of up to two (2) extensions under the following 
circumstances: 

14.1. If the Accessibility Consultant cannot provide a Letter of Accessibility to iFIT 
before the end of the Agreement Term, then the term of the Agreement shall extend 
to the First Extended Agreement Term. 
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14.2. If the Accessibility Consultant cannot provide a Letter of Accessibility to iFIT 
before the end of the First Extended Agreement Term, if applicable, then the term 
of the Agreement shall extend to the Second Extended Agreement Term. 

14.3. In addition to Sections 14.1 and 14.2, if iFIT determines in its sole discretion that 
it would be beneficial to extend the Agreement Term, the Agreement shall extend 
to the First Extended Agreement Term and/or the Second Extended Agreement 
Term as specified by iFIT. 

15. Monitoring of Compliance. Class Counsel and Mr. Douglass shall monitor iFIT’s 
compliance with Sections 5 through 13 as more fully described in this paragraph. Class 
Counsel and Mr. Douglass shall be entitled to visit the Digital Properties at any time 
without notice for the purpose of evaluating compliance with Sections 5 through 13. 

16. Scope of Agreement. 

16.1. The provisions of this Agreement shall apply to iFIT’s policies, practices, and 
procedures with respect to Blind or Visually Disabled persons within the United 
States.  

16.2. The provisions of this Agreement shall not apply to Subsequently Abandoned 
Websites and Mobile Apps. 

16.3. Mr. Douglass expressly agrees that the resolution described herein is fair and 
adequate, and that the policies and procedures set forth in this Agreement are 
intended to remedy any and all alleged violations of the ADA and related state and 
local laws by iFIT with respect to the claims alleged by Mr. Douglass in this case 
on behalf of himself and all similarly situated Class Members. 

17. Additional Information to Class Counsel and Mr. Douglass. 

17.1. Class Counsel and Mr. Douglass may request additional information regarding any 
matter covered by this Agreement if such additional information is necessary to 
determine whether or not iFIT is in compliance with this Agreement. 

17.2. iFIT shall provide such additional information or state its objection to providing 
such information within fifteen (15) business days of its receipt of a written request 
by Class Counsel and Mr. Douglass. 

18. Dispute Resolution Procedure. The Parties shall address disputes relating to compliance 
with any provision of this Agreement as follows. 
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18.1. Informal Dispute Resolution. 

18.1.1. If Mr. Douglass believes that a dispute exists relating to compliance 
with any provision of this Agreement, he shall notify iFIT in writing, 
describing the dispute in detail. iFIT shall respond in writing to such 
notice from Mr. Douglass within fifteen (15) business days of iFIT’s 
receipt of the notice. iFIT’s response shall be directed to Mr. 
Douglass and Class Counsel. 

18.1.2. If iFIT believes that a dispute exists relating to compliance with any 
provision of this Agreement, it shall notify Class Counsel and Mr. 
Douglass in writing, describing the dispute in detail. Class Counsel 
and Mr. Douglass shall respond in writing to such notice from iFIT 
within fifteen (15) business days of their receipt of the notice. The 
responses of Mr. Douglass and Class Counsel shall be directed to 
iFIT. 

18.1.3. If a Settlement Class Member believes a dispute exists relating to 
compliance with any provision of this Agreement, she may notify 
Class Counsel who, in turn, shall notify iFIT in writing, describing 
the dispute in detail. iFIT shall respond in writing to such notice 
from Class Counsel within fifteen (15) business days of iFIT’s 
receipt of the notice. iFIT’s response shall be directed to Class 
Counsel and Mr. Douglass. 

18.1.4. If a Settlement Class Member directly informs iFIT of a dispute 
relating to compliance with any provision of this Agreement, iFIT 
shall notify Class Counsel and Mr. Douglass in writing, providing 
the Settlement Class Member’s description of the dispute and 
providing the Settlement Class Member’s contact information, if 
known. iFIT shall respond in writing to such notice from a 
Settlement Class Member within fifteen (15) business days of iFIT’s 
receipt of the notice. iFIT’s response shall be directed to Class 
Counsel and Mr. Douglass. 

18.1.5. Within fifteen (15) business days of receipt of the response 
described in Section 18.1.1, 18.1.2, 18.1.3, or 18.1.4, counsel for all 
Parties shall meet and confer by telephone or in person and attempt 
to resolve the issue informally.  
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18.2. Submission to Mediation. 

18.2.1. In the event that the Parties are unable to resolve a dispute through 
the informal dispute resolution process detailed in Section 18.1, 
iFIT, Mr. Douglass, or Class Counsel may provide notice that it is 
referring the dispute to non-binding mediation. iFIT, Mr. Douglass, 
and Class Counsel shall agree upon a mediator within fifteen (15) 
business days of the date each Party receives notice under this 
Subsection that the dispute is being referred to non-binding 
mediation. In the event iFIT, Mr. Douglass, and Class Counsel 
cannot agree on a mediator within this fifteen (15) business day 
period, iFIT, Mr. Douglass, or Class Counsel may ask the American 
Arbitration Association to select a mediator. 

18.2.2. Non-binding mediation shall take place within forty-five (45) 
calendar days of the date a mediator is agreed upon by iFIT, Mr. 
Douglass, and Class Counsel or selected by the American 
Arbitration Association. If non-binding mediation cannot be 
scheduled within this forty-five (45) calendar day period, the Parties 
agree to extend the period for non-binding mediation so that it takes 
place within ninety (90) calendar days of the date a mediator is 
agreed upon by iFIT, Mr. Douglass, and Class Counsel or selected 
by the American Arbitration Association. 

18.2.3. The mediator’s compensation and other mediation fees, costs, and 
expenses shall be borne equally by the Parties. Each Party shall 
otherwise pay for the costs it incurs to participate in the mediation.  

18.3. Submission to the Court. 

18.3.1. In the event that the Parties are unable to resolve their dispute 
through the informal dispute resolution process detailed in Section 
18.1 or the mediation process detailed in Section 18.2, or if non-
binding mediation does not commence within ninety (90) calendar 
days of the date a mediator is agreed-upon by iFIT, Mr. Douglass, 
and Class Counsel or selected by the American Arbitration 
Association, iFIT, Mr. Douglass, or Class Counsel may seek 
enforcement of this Agreement by the Court. Such litigation will not 
be filed if the informal dispute resolution process or the non-binding 
mediation process is ongoing. 
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18.3.2. In the event iFIT, Mr. Douglass, or Class Counsel finds that it is 
necessary to seek resolution of the dispute by the Court, the Court 
shall award reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in pursuing 
judicial relief to the prevailing party in accordance with the 
applicable standards of the ADA. 

19. Incentive Award to Mr. Douglass. 

19.1. Subject to Court approval, iFIT shall pay Mr. Douglass an incentive award in the 
amount of One Thousand Five Hundred Dollars and Zero Cents ($1,500.00).  

19.2. Mr. Douglass waives any right to an incentive award in connection with this matter 
which exceeds the amount provided in Section 19.1. 

19.3. iFIT shall pay the amount provided in Section 19.1 within thirty (30) calendar days 
of the Effective Date of this Agreement or the date iFIT receives all necessary IRS 
forms from Mr. Douglass and/or Class Counsel, whichever is later, by sending a 
business check or wire transfer payable to “EAST END TRIAL GROUP LLC 
IOLTA ATTORNEY TRUST ACCOUNT” to Class Counsel in care of Kevin W. 
Tucker, East End Trial Group, LLC, at an address or account to be confirmed by 
Class Counsel before payment. 

19.4. The Incentive Award shall not be subject to withholding deductions and iFIT may 
issue an IRS Form 1099 to Mr. Douglass, and any other necessary forms, through 
Class Counsel at the address provided for notice below, to process this payment. 
Payment of the Incentive Award is contingent on Mr. Douglass and/or Class 
Counsel completing and returning all necessary IRS forms. 

20. Attorneys’ Fees and Costs up to the End of the Agreement Term. 

20.1. Subject to Court approval, iFIT shall pay Mr. Douglass’s reasonable attorneys’ fees 
and Costs incurred in connection with this matter, up to and including the end of 
the Agreement Term, in the amount of Fifty-Three Thousand Five Hundred Dollars 
and Zero Cents ($53,500.00). 

20.2. Mr. Douglass waives any right to attorneys’ fees and Costs incurred in connection 
with this matter up to and including the end of the Agreement Term that exceed the 
amount provided in Section 20.1, other than the right to any reasonable attorneys’ 
fees and Costs awarded pursuant to the Dispute Resolution Procedure. 

20.3. iFIT shall pay the amount provided in Section 20.1 within thirty (30) calendar days 
of the Effective Date of this Agreement or the date iFIT receives all necessary IRS 
forms from Mr. Douglass and/or Class Counsel, whichever is later, by sending a 
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business check or wire transfer payable to “EAST END TRIAL GROUP LLC 
IOLTA ATTORNEY TRUST ACCOUNT” to Class Counsel in care of Kevin W. 
Tucker, East End Trial Group, LLC, at an address or account to be confirmed by 
Class Counsel before payment. 

20.4. The Parties have agreed to settle this case for Fifty-Five Thousand Dollars and Zero 
Cents ($55,000.00) in total, which includes the Incentive Award to Mr. Douglass 
described in Section 19 and the attorneys’ fees and Costs described in Section 20. 
Other than any reasonable attorneys’ fees and Costs awarded pursuant to the 
Dispute Resolution Procedure, iFIT’s liability to Mr. Douglass, Class Counsel, 
and/or any Class Members shall not exceed Fifty-Five Thousand Dollars and Zero 
Cents ($55,000.00).  

21. Attorneys’ Fees and Costs after the Agreement Term. 

21.1. First Extended Agreement Term 

21.1.1. If there is a First Extended Agreement Term, iFIT shall pay 
additional reasonable attorneys’ fees and Costs incurred by Mr. 
Douglass during the First Extended Agreement Term for work 
performed by Class Counsel pursuant to this Agreement in the 
amount of Fifteen Thousand Dollars and Zero Cents ($15,000.00). 

21.1.2. Other than the right to any reasonable attorneys’ fees and Costs 
awarded pursuant to the Dispute Resolution Procedure, Mr. 
Douglass waives any right to attorneys’ fees and Costs for work 
performed by Class Counsel during the First Extended Agreement 
Term that exceeds the amount provided in Section 21.1.1. 

21.1.3. If there is a First Extended Agreement Term, iFIT shall pay the 
amount provided in Section 21.1.1 no later than three (3) months 
after the start of the First Extended Agreement Term or the date iFIT 
receives all necessary IRS forms from Mr. Douglass and/or Class 
Counsel, whichever is later, by sending a business check or wire 
transfer payable to “EAST END TRIAL GROUP LLC IOLTA 
ATTORNEY TRUST ACCOUNT” to Class Counsel in care of 
Kevin W. Tucker, East End Trial Group, LLC, at an address or 
account to be confirmed by Class Counsel before payment. 
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21.2. Second Extended Agreement Term 

21.2.1. If there is a Second Extended Agreement Term, iFIT shall pay 
additional reasonable attorneys’ fees and Costs incurred by Mr. 
Douglass during the Second Extended Agreement Term for work 
performed by Class Counsel pursuant to this Agreement in the 
amount of Fifteen Thousand Dollars and Zero Cents ($15,000.00). 

21.2.2. Other than the right to any reasonable attorneys’ fees and Costs 
awarded pursuant to the Dispute Resolution Procedure, Mr. 
Douglass waives any right to attorneys’ fees and Costs for work 
performed by Class Counsel during the Second Extended 
Agreement Term that exceeds the amount provided in Section 
21.2.1. 

21.2.3. If there is a Second Extended Agreement Term, iFIT shall pay the 
amount provided in Section 21.2.1 no later than three (3) months 
after the start of the Second Extended Agreement Term or the date 
iFIT receives all necessary IRS forms from Mr. Douglass and/or 
Class Counsel, whichever is later, by sending a business check or 
wire transfer payable to “EAST END TRIAL GROUP LLC IOLTA 
ATTORNEY TRUST ACCOUNT” to Class Counsel in care of 
Kevin W. Tucker, East End Trial Group, LLC at an address or 
account to be confirmed by Class Counsel before payment. 

22. Preliminary Approval, Objections, and Fairness Hearing. 

22.1. Promptly after execution of this Agreement, the Parties shall jointly request that the 
Court schedule a preliminary approval hearing within fourteen (14) calendar days 
of the request or as soon thereafter as the Court may set the hearing and that the 
Court preliminarily approve the Agreement, preliminarily certify the Settlement 
Class, preliminarily enjoin Settlement Class Members from bringing any claims to 
be released pursuant to this Agreement, and approve the proposed form of notice 
and plan for providing notice outlined in Section 23. 

22.2. Mr. Douglass shall ask the Court to schedule a fairness and final approval hearing 
for ninety (90) calendar days after the Notice Deadline set by the Court, or as soon 
thereafter as the Court may set the hearing. 

22.3. Mr. Douglass shall ask the Court to order Mr. Douglass to move for the payment 
of the reasonable attorney’s fees and Costs described in Section 20.1 in accordance 
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with Section 20.3 within forty-five (45) calendar days after the Notice Deadline set 
by the Court. 

22.4. Mr. Douglass shall ask the Court to order the following procedures for objections: 
Any Settlement Class Member may object to this Agreement by filing, within sixty 
(60) calendar days after the Notice Deadline set by the Court, written objections 
with the Clerk of the Court. Only such objecting Settlement Class Members shall 
have the right, and only if they expressly seek it in their objection, to present 
objections orally at the fairness hearing in the Lawsuit. Responses by Mr. Douglass 
to any timely-filed objections shall be made no fewer than five (5) calendar days 
before the fairness hearing in the Lawsuit.    

23. Notice. 

23.1. As soon as practicable, but no later than twenty-one (21) calendar days after the 
Court’s entry of a Preliminary Approval Order, iFIT shall at its expense: 

23.1.1. Cause the Long-Form Notice to be published on, and make the following 
documents filed in the Lawsuit available for download on, the Settlement 
Website: the class action complaint, motion for preliminary approval of 
class action settlement and supporting documents, and the Court’s orders 
concerning preliminary approval as well as any supporting memorandum. 
The Settlement Website and the documents identified in this Subsection 
shall be fully accessible to individuals who screen reader auxiliary aids. 

23.1.2. Add invisible anchor text in the header of the Website’s and Mobile App’s 
homepages which reads, “Click to view our ADA Class Action Settlement 
Notice regarding our commitment to ensure iFIT’s websites and mobile 
applications are accessible” and which links to the Settlement Website. 

23.2. As soon as practicable, but no later than seven (7) calendar days after Mr. Douglass 
moves for payment of the reasonable attorney’s fees and Costs described in Section 
20.1 in accordance with the deadline set under Section 22.3, iFIT shall make any 
motion for attorneys’ fees and Costs, and supporting documentation, available for 
download on the Settlement Website.  In addition, as soon as practicable, but no 
later than seven (7) calendar days after any Court order on Mr. Douglass’s motion 
for attorneys’ fees and Costs, iFIT shall make the order available for download on 
the Settlement Website.  

23.3. As soon as practicable, but no later than twenty-one (21) calendar days after the 
Court’s entry of a Preliminary Approval order, Class Counsel shall, at its expense, 
request that at least the following organizations publish notice in the form of 
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Section 23.4 in their respective electronic newsletters and social media accounts 
such that the notice is sent out within sixty (60) calendar days of Preliminary 
Approval: Achieva, American Action Fund for Blind Children and Adults, 
American Council of the Blind, American Foundation for the Blind, Blinded 
American Veterans Foundation, Blinded Veterans Association, Foundation 
Fighting Blindness, Guide Dogs for the Blind, National Association of Blind 
Merchants, National Council on Disability, and National Federation of the Blind. 
Class Counsel shall copy iFIT’s counsel on each request at the address provided in 
Section 34.2. 

23.4. The notice described in Section 23.3 shall read: 

“A proposed settlement has been reached that would resolve the class action lawsuit 
Douglass v. iFIT Inc., No. 2:23-cv-917-MJH (W.D. Pa.). The lawsuit alleges that 
iFIT Inc. violated the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12101, et seq. 
by failing to take the necessary steps to ensure its website, 
https://www.nordictrack.com/, and its mobile app, iFIT At-Home Workout & 
Fitness, do not discriminate against blind or visually disabled consumers who use 
screen reader auxiliary aids to access digital content. Under the settlement, iFIT 
Inc. agrees to take additional steps to make these and other websites and mobile 
apps, including any new website or mobile app it develops or acquires, accessible 
to blind or visually disabled consumers. 

For a more complete summary of the terms of the proposed settlement, please visit 
https://www.iFITADAsettlement.com.” 

23.5. No fewer than five (5) calendar days before the fairness hearing scheduled in the 
Lawsuit, iFIT shall file a declaration from the stipulated class action settlement 
administrator that summarizes the work the administrator performed and the 
number of visitors to the Settlement Website. 

24. Judgment, Final Approval, and Dismissal. 

24.1. Class Counsel and Mr. Douglass shall request that the Court enter a Final Judgment 
and Order granting Final Approval of this Agreement, certifying the Settlement 
Class, and enjoining Settlement Class Members from asserting any Released 
Injunctive Claims. Among other things, the Final Judgment and Order shall attach 
this Agreement as an exhibit and shall provide that the Court retains jurisdiction 
through the Agreement Term and, if applicable, the First Extended Agreement 
Term and Second Extended Agreement Term, in order to enforce this Agreement. 
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24.2. The Lawsuit shall be dismissed with prejudice pursuant to Rule 41 of the Federal 
Rules of Civil Procedure, no later than thirty (30) calendar days following the date 
of Final Approval.  Pursuant to Kokkonen v. Guardian Life Ins. Co. of Am., 511 
U.S. 375 (1994), the Parties shall jointly request that the Court’s dismissal order 
expressly retain the Court’s jurisdiction to enforce this Agreement against Mr. 
Douglass, iFIT, and Settlement Class Members. 

24.3. If the Court denies the Parties’ request for Final Approval of this Agreement: (i) this 
Agreement will be null and void and of no force and effect; (ii) nothing in this 
Agreement will be deemed to prejudice the position of any Party with respect to 
any matter; (iii) neither the existence of this Agreement, nor its contents, will be 
admissible in evidence, referred to for any purpose in any litigation or proceeding, 
or be deemed an admission by iFIT of any fault, wrongdoing, or liability; and 
(iv) prosecution of the Lawsuit shall resume and shall be conducted in accordance 
with a schedule to be set by the Court. 

25. No Admission of Liability. By agreeing to and voluntarily entering into this Agreement, 
there is no admission or concession by iFIT, direct or indirect, express or implied, that the 
Digital Properties are in any way inaccessible or that iFIT has violated the ADA, or any 
other federal, state, or local law, code, regulation, order, or rule. Nothing in this Agreement 
shall operate as an admission by iFIT in any context other than within the settlement of the 
Lawsuit that any particular standard or standards are applicable under the ADA or any 
other federal or state law to the Digital Properties. 

26. Release. Effective on the date of Final Approval, the Injunctive Releasing Parties 
unconditionally and forever fully and finally release, acquit, and discharge iFIT from the 
Released Injunctive Claims. Pursuant to this release, Mr. Douglass and Settlement Class 
Members shall not bring any claims concerning the Accessibility of the Digital Properties 
during the Agreement Term and, if applicable, the First Extended Agreement Term and 
Second Extended Agreement Term. Notwithstanding this release, Mr. Douglass and 
Settlement Class Members may fully utilize the Dispute Resolution Procedure in Section 
18 during the Agreement Term to enforce the terms of this Agreement. 

27. Class Certification. Mr. Douglass and Class Counsel acknowledge that iFIT does not 
consent to certification of any class pertaining to the claims asserted herein other than for 
settlement purposes on the terms set forth in this Agreement. 

28. Entire Agreement. This Agreement contains all the agreements, conditions, promises and 
covenants among iFIT, Mr. Douglass, Class Counsel, and the Settlement Class regarding 
matters set forth in it and supersedes all prior or contemporaneous agreements, drafts, 
representations or understandings, either written or oral, with respect to the subject matter 
of the present Agreement. 
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29. Modification. Prior to Final Approval, this Agreement can only be amended by written 
agreement of the Parties hereto. Following Final Approval, no modification of this 
Agreement shall be effective unless it is pursuant to Court Order. 

30. Severability. If any provision or any part of this Agreement shall at any time be held 
unlawful, or inconsistent with applicable law, in whole or in part, under any federal, state, 
county, municipal or other law, ruling or regulation, then the remaining provisions of this 
Agreement shall remain effective and enforceable. 

31. Drafting of the Agreement. This Agreement is deemed to have been drafted by all Parties 
hereto, as a result of arm’s length negotiations among the Parties. Whereas all Parties have 
contributed to the preparation of this Agreement, it shall not be construed more strictly 
against one Party than another. 

32. Execution in Counterparts. The Parties may execute this Agreement in counterparts, each 
of which shall constitute an original for all purposes, including any copies of same, and all 
duplicate counterparts will be construed together and constitute one Agreement. The 
Parties will be bound by signatures on this document which are transmitted by mail, hand 
delivery, email or any other electronic means to the other Parties or, if applicable, counsel 
of record for the other Parties. Such signature will have the same binding effect as any 
original signature. A typed electronic signature will have the same effect as a handwritten 
signature. 

33. Deadlines. The Parties and the Court recognize that from time to time unforeseen events, 
such as exigent business circumstances, labor disputes, natural disasters, personnel issues, 
pandemics, and negotiations with third parties, cause delays in the accomplishment of 
objectives no matter how well intentioned and diligent the Parties may be. Accordingly, 
with regard to the provisions of this Agreement that require that certain acts be taken within 
specified periods, the Parties understand and agree that Court approval shall not be required 
for reasonable extensions of deadlines. In the event that any Party determines that an action 
required by this Agreement cannot be taken within the specified time period, that Party 
shall promptly notify the other Parties that it anticipates a delay, the reasons for the delay 
and a proposed alternative deadline. The Parties shall endeavor to cooperate in reasonably 
rescheduling such deadlines. However, if the other Parties do not agree to the proposed 
delay, the Parties shall submit the matter to the Dispute Resolution Procedure. 

34. Communications to Mr. Douglass, the Settlement Class, Class Counsel, and iFIT. All 
letters, notices, IRS forms, requests, demands and other communications required or 
permitted to be given to the Parties pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing, provided 
by electronic mail and/or next-day express delivery service and addressed as follows: 

Case 2:23-cv-00917-MJH   Document 13-1   Filed 11/10/23   Page 25 of 34 



22 

34.1. To Mr. Douglass, the Settlement Class, or Class Counsel: 

Kevin W. Tucker (He/Him/His) 
Kevin Abramowicz (He/Him/His) 
Stephanie Moore (She/Her/Hers) 
Chandler Steiger (She/Her/Hers) 
EAST END TRIAL GROUP LLC  
6901 Lynn Way, Suite 215 
Pittsburgh, PA 15208 
ktucker@eastendtrialgroup.com  
kabramowicz@eastendtrialgroup.com 
smoore@eastendtrialgroup.com 
csteiger@eastendtrialgroup.com 
Tel. (412) 877-5220 

34.2. To iFIT: 

Christopher S. Huther  
WILEY REIN LLP 
2050 M Street NW 
Washington, DC 20036 
chuther@wiley.law 
Tel. (202) 719-7197 

iFIT may change the individual or address to which notices and communications 
required by this Agreement shall be sent by providing Class Counsel and Mr. 
Douglass written notification of the new contact or contact information. 

Signature block begins on the next page. 
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Blair Douglass (Oct 5, 2023 09:40 EDT) 
Blair DouglassOct 5, 2023 
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NOTICE OF PROPOSED SETTLEMENT OF CLASS ACTION LAWSUIT 

IF YOU ARE A SCREEN READER USER, YOUR LEGAL RIGHTS MAY BE 
AFFECTED. PLEASE READ THIS NOTICE AND THE INSTRUCTIONS CAREFULLY 

• This notice is to inform you about the proposed settlement that would resolve the 
class action lawsuit Douglass v. iFIT Inc., No. 2:23-cv-917-MJH (W.D. Pa.).  

• The proposed settlement covers all blind or visually disabled persons who have 
accessed, attempted to access, been deterred from accessing, will access, will 
attempt to access, or will be deterred from accessing any website or mobile 
application operated by iFIT Inc. (“iFIT”) that is publicly available to consumers 
in the United States, including but not limited to: https://www.nordictrack.com/, 
https://www.proform.com/, https://freemotionfitness.com/, 
https://www.ifit.com/, and the iFIT At-Home Workout & Fitness mobile 
application.  

• The class action lawsuit alleges that iFIT violated the Americans with Disabilities 
Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12101, et seq., by failing to take the necessary steps to ensure 
its websites and mobile applications do not discriminate against blind or visually 
disabled consumers who use screen reader auxiliary aids to access digital content. 

• iFIT denies all liability in the class action lawsuit and asserts that its practices do 
not and have not violated applicable federal, state, and local law.  

• The proposed settlement, which must be approved by the Court, would resolve 
the lawsuit. 

• iFIT has agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to ensure its websites and 
mobile applications are in substantial compliance with the success criteria of the 
Web Content Accessibility Guidelines 2.1 (“WCAG 2.1”) and to follow certain 
steps to ensure that its websites and mobile applications remain in substantial 
compliance with the success criteria of the WCAG 2.1 and so are accessible to 
blind and visually disabled persons. 

• You have the right to object to the proposed settlement by DATE. 

• The Court will hold a final hearing to determine whether to approve the proposed 
settlement on DATE. 

• Your legal rights are affected whether or not you act. Please read this Notice 
carefully. 
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I. WHAT IS THIS LAWSUIT ABOUT? 

This case is a class action lawsuit. In a class action, one or more people sue on behalf of 
others who have similar claims. The person that sues is the class representative. All of the people 
who have similar claims are part of a “class.” Individual class members do not file lawsuits. 
Instead, a court resolves all of their claims at once.  

This case is a class action that challenges the accessibility of websites and mobile 
applications operated by iFIT, including but not limited to https://www.nordictrack.com/, 
https://www.proform.com/, https://freemotionfitness.com/, and https://www.ifit.com/, and the 
iFIT At-Home Workout & Fitness mobile application. Plaintiff alleged that iFIT’s websites and 
mobile applications were not accessible to persons with vision disabilities that use screen readers 
to access the internet. Plaintiff alleged that this violated the Americans with Disabilities Act. 
Plaintiff sought an order to require iFIT to make its online content accessible to screen reader 
users.  iFIT denies all liability and asserts that its website and mobile application comply with the 
Americans with Disabilities Act. 

II. WHO DOES THIS PROPOSED SETTLEMENT AFFECT? 

The proposed settlement covers all blind or visually disabled persons who have accessed, 
attempted to access, or been deterred from attempting to access, or who will access, attempt to 
access, or be deterred from attempting to access any website or mobile application operated by 
iFIT that is publicly available to consumers in the United States, including but not limited to, 
https://www.nordictrack.com/, https://www.proform.com/, https://freemotionfitness.com/, 
https://www.ifit.com/, and the iFIT At-Home Workout & Fitness mobile application, from the 
United States. 

III.WHAT DOES THE PROPOSED SETTLEMENT PROVIDE? 

A. iFIT Will Use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to Ensure its Digital 
Properties are Accessible. 

Under the proposed settlement, iFIT agrees to take additional commercially reasonable 
steps to ensure websites and mobile applications it operates and that are publicly available to 
consumers in the United States, including https://www.nordictrack.com/, 
https://www.proform.com/, https://freemotionfitness.com/, https://www.ifit.com/, and the iFIT 
At-Home Workout & Fitness mobile application, and any new website or mobile application it 
develops or acquires and makes publicly available to consumers in the United States (collectively 
“Digital Properties”) provide reasonably effective communication to all blind or visually disabled 
persons in substantial compliance with the success criteria of the Web Content Accessibility 
Guidelines 2.1 (“WCAG 2.1”). 
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B. iFIT Will Implement Additional Procedures to Ensure Accessibility to 
Blind and Visually Disabled Persons. 

iFIT will implement additional procedures to ensure its Digital Properties are and remain 
accessible to blind and visually disabled persons.  

1. For each new, renewed, or renegotiated contract with a vendor of Third-Party 
Content, iFIT will ask the vendor to commit to provide content in a format that 
substantially complies with WCAG 2.1 or can be made by iFIT to substantially 
comply with WCAG 2.1. 

2. iFIT will designate an employee as its Accessibility Coordinator, who will be 
responsible for coordinating iFIT’s compliance with certain audit, training, and 
notification requirements. 

3. iFIT will retain an Accessibility Consultant knowledgeable about digital 
accessibility, the ADA, and WCAG 2.1. The Accessibility Consultant will, among 
other things: (a) assist iFIT in conducting an accessibility audit of a website and 
mobile application; (b) advise iFIT, if necessary, on how to make the website and 
mobile application accessible; (c) provide accessibility training to certain iFIT 
personnel, (d) provide annual quality assurance monitoring of certain websites and 
mobile applications, and (e) issue iFIT a letter describing the audit and quality 
assurance monitoring work it performed and identifying the steps taken to ensure 
the accessibility of the Digital Properties. 

4. iFIT’s Accessibility Consultant will complete an accessibility audit of 
www.nordictrack.com and the iFIT At-Home Workout & Fitness mobile 
application, which are technologically representative of the Digital Properties. The 
accessibility audit will be conducted in a professional manner and will be 
benchmarked by appropriate processes, including automated and end-user testing, 
consistent with the Accessibility Consultant’s recommendations. 

5. iFIT’s Accessibility Consultant will train all iFIT employees who have managerial 
responsibility for the design and development of the Digital Properties in methods 
designed to ensure the Digital Properties are and remain accessible. 

6. iFIT will include invisible anchor text in the header of the homepage of its websites 
and mobile applications that directs consumers to a webpage that describes iFIT’s 
commitment to accessibility and inclusion for blind and visually disabled persons 
and solicits feedback. 

7. iFIT will take reasonable efforts to modify its bug fix policies, practices, and 
procedures, if necessary, to include the elimination of bugs that create accessibility 
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barriers for blind and visually disabled persons so that the Digital Properties 
substantially comply with WCAG 2.1. 

8. iFIT will designate and train at least two employees to receive and prioritize calls 
from blind and visually disabled persons and to timely assist such individuals 
within iFIT’s published hours of operation (“iFIT’s Customer Service Personnel”). 

9. iFIT’s Accessibility Consultant will perform annual quality assurance monitoring 
on certain Digital Properties. The annual quality assurance monitoring will be 
conducted in a professional manner and will be benchmarked by appropriate 
processes, including automated and end-user testing, consistent with the 
accessibility consultant’s recommendations. 

C. The Parties Will Create a Dispute Resolution Procedure to Address 
Accessibility Issues. 

Additionally, iFIT will instruct its Customer Service Personnel to forward any complaint 
or issue they receive that directly concerns compliance with the proposed settlement to iFIT’s 
Accessibility Coordinator, who will be instructed to forward the complaint or issue to Class 
Counsel (defined below), who, if necessary, will work with iFIT to ensure the issue is resolved 
consistent with the settlement if it is approved. Class Counsel will monitor iFIT’s compliance with 
the settlement as well if it is approved. 

D. iFIT Will Pay Class Counsel’s Attorneys’ Fees and Costs. 

The proposed settlement also provides that the named individual plaintiff who served as 
class representative will receive a $1,500.00 incentive award, subject to Court approval, in return 
for a release of his individual claims. 

Finally, East End Trial Group LLC (“Class Counsel”), the attorneys who represent the 
class, will have the right to seek attorneys’ fees and costs up to (a) $53,500.00 for work performed 
during the initial term of the proposed settlement, (b) $15,000.00 for additional work if the 
proposed settlement is extended by one extra year, and (c) another $15,000.00 if the proposed 
settlement is extended by a second extra year. Class Counsel will file a motion asking the Court to 
award reasonable fees and costs to reimburse them for work they performed on this case up to 
these specified amounts. The Court must approve the amount awarded even if the parties reach an 
agreement on the amount. This motion for fees and costs will be available at 
https://www.iFITADAsettlement.com after it is filed with the Court. 

IV. DOES THE PROPOSED SETTLEMENT AFFECT MY LEGAL RIGHTS? 

All class members will be bound by the terms of the proposed settlement relating to 
access to the Digital Properties for blind or visually disabled persons if the proposed settlement 
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is approved by the Court. If the proposed settlement is approved, all class members will release 
and forever discharge all claims for injunctive relief under all federal, state, and local laws 
related to alleged discrimination by iFIT against blind or visually disabled persons that arose 
before the proposed settlement becomes effective. Class members, other than the named 
plaintiff in the lawsuit, are not releasing any claims for monetary damages. 

V. CAN I OBJECT TO THE PROPOSED SETTLEMENT? 

You have the right to object to the proposed settlement if you do not like part or all of it. 

If you wish to object to the proposed settlement, you must do so in writing on or before 
DATE. Your written objections must: 

a) clearly identify the case name and number, Douglass v. iFIT Inc., Case No. 2:23-
cv-917-MJH (W.D. Pa.); 

b) be submitted to the Court either by mailing them to the Clerk of the Court for the 
United States District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania, 700 Grant 
Street, Pittsburgh, PA 15219, or by filing them in person at any location of the 
United States District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania; 

c) and be received on or before DATE. 

If you wish to appear and present your objection orally at the fairness hearing, you must 
first submit a written objection and in your written objection you must indicate your intention 
to appear and be heard at the fairness hearing. If you appear through your own attorney, you are 
responsible for paying that attorney. 

VI. DO I HAVE A LAWYER IN THIS CASE? 

The Court has appointed Kevin Tucker, Kevin Abramowicz, Stephanie Moore, and 
Chandler Steiger of East End Trial Group as Lead Counsel (“Class Counsel”) on behalf of the 
class members. Class Counsel’s contact information can be found in Section IX. 

You do not need to hire a lawyer because Class Counsel is working on your behalf. You 
do not need to pay Class Counsel, as the proposed settlement provides that iFIT will pay Class 
Counsel’s fees and costs in an amount approved by the Court. 
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VII. WHEN AND WHERE WILL THE COURT APPROVE THE PROPOSED 
SETTLEMENT? 

The Court will hold a hearing to decide whether to approve the proposed settlement on 
DATE. At this hearing, the Court will consider whether the proposed settlement is fair, reasonable, 
and adequate. You are not required to attend the final fairness hearing. 

VIII. HOW DO I GET MORE INFORMATION ABOUT THE PROPOSED 
SETTLEMENT? 

This notice summarizes the proposed settlement. For the precise terms and conditions of 
the proposed settlement, please see the Class Settlement Agreement available at 
https://www.iFITADAsettlement.com, contact Class Counsel using the information below, 
access the Court docket in this case through the Court’s Public Access to Court Electronic 
Records (PACER) system at https://ecf.pawd.uscourts.gov, or visit the office of the Clerk of the 
Court for the United States District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania, 700 Grant 
Street, Pittsburgh, PA 15219, between 9:00 a.m. and 4:00 p.m., Monday through Friday, 
excluding Court holidays. 

To obtain a copy of this notice in alternate accessible formats, contact Class Counsel using 
the information below. 

IX. CONTACT INFORMATION 

Please do not contact the Court, the Court clerk’s office, or counsel for iFIT with 
questions about this proposed settlement. Any questions must be directed to Class Counsel at the 
numbers and addresses below. 

Class Counsel: 
Kevin Tucker 
Kevin Abramowicz 
Stephanie Moore 
Chandler Steiger 
EAST END TRIAL GROUP LLC  
6901 Lynn Way, Suite 215 
Pittsburgh, PA 15208 
ktucker@eastendtrialgroup.com  
kabramowicz@eastendtrialgroup.com 
smoore@eastendtrialgroup.com 
csteiger@eastendtrialgroup.com 
Tel. (412) 877-5220 
https://eastendtrialgroup.com/ 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

WESTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

BLAIR DOUGLASS, on behalf of himself and all 

others similarly situated, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

iFIT INC., 

Defendant. 

Civil Action No. 2:23-cv-00917-MJH 

NOTICE PLAN 

1. Within twenty-one (21) days of this Order, ____________________, iFIT shall, at 

its expense: 

(a) Cause the Long-Form Notice to be published on, and make the following 

documents filed in the Lawsuit available for download on, the Settlement Website: the class action 

complaint, motion for preliminary approval of class action settlement and supporting documents, 

and the Court’s orders concerning preliminary approval as well as any supporting memorandum. 

The Settlement Website and the documents identified in this Subsection shall be fully accessible 

to individuals who use screen reader auxiliary aids. 

(b) Add invisible anchor text in the header of the Website’s and Mobile App’s 

homepages which reads, “Click to view our ADA Class Action Settlement Notice regarding our 

commitment to ensure iFIT’s websites and mobile applications are accessible” and which links to 

the Settlement Website. 

2. As soon as practicable, but no later than seven (7) calendar days after Mr. Douglass 

moves for payment of the reasonable attorney’s fees and Costs described in Section 20.1 of the 

Agreement in accordance with the deadline set under Section 22.3 of the Agreement, iFIT shall 
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make any motion for attorneys’ fees and costs, and supporting documentation, available for 

download on the Settlement Website. In addition, as soon as practicable, but no later than seven 

(7) calendar days after any Court order on Mr. Douglass’s motion for attorneys’ fees and Costs, 

iFIT shall make the order available for download on the Settlement Website. 

3. Within twenty-one (21) days of this Order, ____________________, Class 

Counsel shall, at its expense, request that at least the following organizations publish notice in the 

form of Section 23.4 of the Agreement in their respective electronic newsletters and social media 

accounts such that the notice is sent out within sixty (60) days of this Order, 

____________________: Achieva, American Action Fund for Blind Children and Adults, 

American Council of the Blind, American Foundation for the Blind, Blinded American Veterans 

Foundation, Blinded Veterans Association, Foundation Fighting Blindness, Guide Dogs for the 

Blind, National Association of Blind Merchants, National Council on Disability, and National 

Federation of the Blind. Class Counsel shall copy iFIT’s counsel on each request at the address 

provided in Section 34.2 of the Agreement. 

4. The notice described in Paragraph 3 of this Notice Plan shall read: 

“A proposed settlement has been reached that would resolve the class action lawsuit 

Douglass v. iFIT Inc., No. 2:23-cv-917 (W.D. Pa.). The lawsuit alleges that iFIT 

Inc. violated the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12101, et seq. by 

failing to take the necessary steps to ensure its website, 

https://www.nordictrack.com/, and its mobile app, iFIT At-Home Workout & 

Fitness, do not discriminate against blind or visually disabled consumers who use 

screen reader auxiliary aids to access digital content. Under the settlement, iFIT 

Inc. agrees to take additional steps to make these and other websites and mobile 

apps, including any new website or mobile app it develops or acquires, accessible 

to blind or visually disabled consumers. 

For a more complete summary of the terms of the proposed settlement, please visit 

https://www.iFITADAsettlement.com.” 
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5. No fewer than five (5) calendar days before the fairness hearing scheduled in the 

Lawsuit, iFIT shall file a declaration from the stipulated class action settlement administrator that 

summarizes the work the administrator performed and the number of visitors to the Settlement 

Website. 
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Exhibit 3: 

Plaintiff’s Counsel’s Resumes 
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6901 Lynn Way, Suite 215 
Pittsburgh, PA 15208 

www.eastendtrialgroup.com 

Deceptive Business Practices and 
Consumer Protection 

Americans with Disabilities Act 

Privacy Violations 

University of Pittsburgh School of 
Law, J.D., 2011 

University of Michigan, BA, 2008 

ACHIEVA Award of Excellence in 
Legal Services (2023) 

University of Pittsburgh School of 
Law Alumni Association, Young 
Alumni Award (2023) 

SuperLawyers, Pennsylvania Rising 
Star for Class Action & Mass Torts 
(2021-2023) 

LawDragon, 500 Leading Plaintiff 
Consumer Lawyers (2022-2023) 

In Re: Philips Recalled CPAP, Bi-
Level PAP, and Mechanical 
Ventilator Products Litigation, 
MDL 3014 (W.D. Pa.) 

Partner (He/Him) 
Tel. (412) 877-5220 
ktucker@eastendtrialgroup.com 
@SquireTuck 

Kevin has consistently helped individuals pursue justice at 
all levels of the judicial system. Kevin’s represented laborers 
across Pennsylvania before workers’ compensation judges. 
He’s tried § 1983 cases for inmates seeking adequate 
medical care. He’s represented groups of consumers and 
individuals with disabilities in litigation across the country. 

Kevin co-founded East End Trial Group in 2020. Today, he 
has a diverse practice centering on consumer protection, 
privacy, and the Americans with Disabilities Act. His 
contributions to these fields have been recognized by the 
judiciary, bar, and community. 

In 2022, Judge Conti of the Western District of Pennsylvania 
appointed Kevin to a leadership position In Re: Philips 
Recalled CPAP, Bi-Level PAP, and Mechanical Ventilator 
Products Litigation, MDL 3014, Doc. 395 (W.D. Pa.). 
Following this appointment, the Leadership Development 
Committee voted Kevin to serve as Co-Chair. 

During a fairness hearing in 2023, opposing counsel noted: 

Your Honor, in my 36 years of practice, I think I can 
say that this is probably the only time I’ve said this on 
the record: I can think of few attorneys that 
represent the ideals of what it means to be an 
attorney and counselor of law and to uphold the 
standards of what it means to be a member of this 
bar than plaintiff’s counsel. We litigated this case 
over a period of many years. And, again, they 
understand how to disagree without being 
disagreeable. And I think that their clients have been 
very, very well-represented by them. 

Douglass v. Mondelēz Global LLC, No. 2:22-cv-00875, H’rg 
Tr., 14-15 (W.D. Pa. Sept. 19, 2023). 
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KEVIN W. TUCKER 
(continued) 

University of Pittsburgh School of 
Law Alumni Board of Governors, 
President Elect (2023-), Vice-
President (2021-2023), Secretary 
(2019-2021) 

Allegheny County Bar Association, 
Civil Rights Litigation Committee, 
Chair (2020-21) 

Pittsburgh Center for Creative 
Reuse, President (2014-2016), 
Board Member (2012-2014) 

University of Pittsburgh School of 
Law, Pitt Legal Income Sharing 
Founding, President (2009-2011) 

Endless Mountains 5-day (330-
mile) Adventure Race, 
Williamsport, PA 

Rachel Carson Trail Challenge, 
Western Pennsylvania 

Western Pennsylvania 
Orienteering Club’s Racoongaine, 
Racoon Creek State Park, PA 

Canal Corridor 100-mile 
Endurance Run, Akron, OH 

Twisted Branch 100k, 
Hammondsport, NY 

In 2023, Kevin received the ACHIEVA Award of Excellence in 
Legal Services, recognizing his “extraordinary efforts on 
behalf of people with disabilities and their families.” 

Courts have appointed Kevin as class counsel in many cases 
concerning the rights of consumers. See, e.g., Murphy v. 
Charles Tyrwhitt, Inc., 2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 222540 (W.D. Pa. 
Nov. 25, 2020) (Baxter, J.); Murphy v. Eyebobs, LLC, 2021 
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 192676 (W.D. Pa. Oct. 6, 2021) (Lanzillo, J.); 
Haston v. Phillips & Cohen Associates, LTD, 2:20-cv-01069-
WSS, Doc. 45 (W.D. Pa. Nov. 11, 2021) (Stickman, J.); 
Giannaros v. Poly-Wood, LLC, No. 1:21-cv-10351, Doc. 45 (D. 
Mass. Oct. 27, 2022); Douglass v. Optavia LLC, No. 2:22-cv-
00594, Doc. 38 (W.D. Pa. Jan. 23, 2023) (Wiegand, J.), 
Douglass v. P.C. Richard & Son, LLC, No. 2:22-cv-00399, Doc. 
55 (W.D. Pa. June 27, 2023) (Kelly, J.); Fischer v. Instant 
Checkmate LLC, No. 1:19-cv-4892, Doc. 272 (N.D. Ill. Sept. 8, 
2023); and Douglass v. Mondelēz Global LLC, No. 2:22-cv-
00875, Doc. 26 (W.D. Pa. Sept. 19, 2023) (Hardy, J.). 

Before founding East End, Kevin was a Partner at a national 
plaintiffs-side class action law firm that The Legal 
Intelligencer named Litigation Department of the Year for 
work the firm did while he was a member of that team. 

Kevin works to create positive working relationships with 
co- and opposing counsel. He works with teams to gameplan 
for the entire case at the start of the case and readjusts 
confidently and quickly when appropriate. 
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6901 Lynn Way, Suite 215 
Pittsburgh, PA 15208 

www.eastendtrialgroup.com 

Deceptive Business Practices and 
Consumer Protection 

Americans with Disabilities Act 

Privacy Violations 

Consumer Debt Defense 

University of Pittsburgh School of 
Law, J.D., 2015 

University of Pittsburgh, BA, 2011 

Pennsylvania 

The Third Circuit Court of Appeals 

The Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals 

Western District of Pennsylvania 

Western District of New York 

Partner 
Tel. (412) 223-5740 
kabramowicz@eastendtrialgroup.com 

While in law school, Kevin served as an Article Editor for the 
University of Pittsburgh Law Review and as a judicial extern 
in the Western District of Pennsylvania. Since then, Kevin has 
represented hundreds of individuals in many areas of law, 
seeking to enforce and protect their rights. 

Kevin started as an attorney at a national, plaintiffs class 
action law firm. After that, he founded a consumer rights law 
firm. Today, Kevin is co-founder of East End Trial Group. He 
currently represents consumers experiencing debt, credit, 
and privacy issues, and individuals with disabilities. 

Courts certified Kevin as class counsel in cases concerning the 
rights of consumers and workers denied their fair wages. See, 
e.g., Murphy v. The Hundreds Is Huge, Inc., No. 1:21-cv-204, 
Doc. 41 (W.D. Pa. Nov. 17, 2022) (Lanzillo, J.); Giannaros v. 
Poly-Wood, LLC, No. 1:21-cv-10351, Doc. 45 (D. Mass. Oct. 
27, 2022) (Young, J.); Butela v. Midland Credit Mgmt., 2022 
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 76602 (W.D. Pa. April 27, 2022) (Stickman, J.); 
Haston v. Phillips & Cohen Associates, LTD, , 2:20-cv-01069-
WSS, Doc. 45 (W.D. Pa. Nov. 11, 2021) (Stickman, J.); Murphy 
v. Eyebobs, LLC, 2021 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 192676 (W.D. Pa. Oct. 
6, 2021) (Lanzillo, J.); Murphy v. Charles Tyrwhitt, Inc., 2020 
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 222540 (W.D. Pa. Nov. 25, 2020) (Baxter, J.); 
White v. 1 Person At A Time, LLC, No. 2:17-cv-01047, ECF No. 
28 (W.D. Pa. June 15, 2018) (Fischer, J.); Hernandez v. 
AutoZone, Inc., 323 F.R.D. 496 (E.D.N.Y. 2018) (Block, J.). 

He also has made substantial litigation contributions to class 
actions that provided millions of dollars in value to persons 
across the country. See, e.g., Luca v. Wyndham, No. 16-cv-
746, ECF No. 208-1 (W.D. Pa.); Morrow v. Ann Inc., No. 16-cv-
3340, ECF No. 71 (S.D.N.Y.); Gennock v. General Nutrition 
Centers, Inc., No. 16-cv-633, ECF No. 93-3, Ex. A (W.D. Pa.); 
Friske v. Bonnier Corporation, No. 16-cv-12799, ECF No. 76-1, 
p. 2 (E.D. Mich.); Sullivan v. Wenner Media LLC, No. 16-cv-
960, ECF No. 60-1, p. 6 (W.D. Mich.). 
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Before law school, Chandler served as a judicial intern for 
now-President Judge Shawn D. Meyers of the Court of 
Common Pleas of the 39th Judicial District of Pennsylvania. 

While in law school, Chandler served as a judicial intern for 
Judge Mary Jane Bowes of the Pennsylvania Superior Court 
and for Magistrate Judge Lisa Pupo Lenihan of the U.S. 
District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania. During 
that time, she also served as a Junior Research Editor for the 
Pittsburgh Journal of Technology Law and Policy. 

After law school, Chandler joined East End Trial Group, where 
she assists with the litigation of consumer protection and civil 
rights cases, including class actions challenging usurious 
lending and deceptive debt collection practices, and 
individual and class cases alleging disability discrimination. 

Chief Magistrate Judge Lanzillo of the Western District of 
Pennsylvania recently certified Chandler as class counsel on 
behalf of a nationwide class of visually impaired individuals 
who use screen reader auxiliary aids to access digital content. 
See Murphy v. The Hundreds Is Huge, Inc., No. 1:21-cv-00204, 
Docs. 41 and 42 (W.D. Pa. Nov. 17, 2022). In doing so, Judge 
Lanzillo described Chandler, and the entire East End team, as 
“experienced and competent class action counsel who fairly 
and adequately protected the interests of the putative class 
throughout th[e] litigation[.]” Id. at Doc. 41, ¶ 8. 

Chandler has successfully defended consumers’ rights to 
pursue claims in court, see, e.g., Haston v. Resurgent Capital 
Servs., L.P., No. 2:20-cv-01008, 2022 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 176901 
(W.D. Pa. Sept. 29, 2022) (denying defendants’ motion to 
compel arbitration with prejudice), and contributed research 
and writing to several class actions in state and federal court, 
including on appeal, see American Eagle Outfitters, Inc. v. 
Garcia, No. 1320 WDA 2021 (Pa. Super.); Lutz v. Portfolio 
Recovery Associates, No. 21-1656 (3d Cir.); Zirpoli v. Midland 
Funding LLC, No. 21-2438 (3d Cir.). 
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While in law school, Stephanie served as a judicial intern for 
Magistrate Judge Lisa Pupo Lenihan of the U.S. District Court 
for the Western District of Pennsylvania and a law fellow in 
the Allegheny County Court of Common Pleas for Judge Kim 
Eaton. Stephanie also provided free legal services to low-
income adults via the Pitt Law Elder Law Clinic and served as 
an Associate Editor for the University of Pittsburgh Journal of 
Law and Commerce. 

After law school, Stephanie joined East End Trial Group, 
where she assists with the litigation of consumer protection 
and civil rights cases, including class actions challenging 
usurious lending and deceptive debt collection practices, and 
individual and class cases alleging disability discrimination. 

Chief Magistrate Judge Lanzillo of the Western District of 
Pennsylvania recently certified Stephanie as class counsel on 
behalf of a nationwide class of visually impaired individuals 
who use screen reader auxiliary aids to access digital content. 
See Murphy v. The Hundreds Is Huge, Inc., No. 1:21-cv-00204, 
Docs. 41 and 42 (W.D. Pa. Nov. 17, 2022). In doing so, Judge 
Lanzillo described Stephanie, and the entire East End team, 
as “experienced and competent class action counsel who 
fairly and adequately protected the interests of the putative 
class throughout th[e] litigation[.]” Id. at Doc. 41, ¶ 8. 

Stephanie has contributed research and writing to several 
consumer class actions in state and federal court, including 
on appeal. See American Eagle Outfitters, Inc. v. Garcia, No. 
1320 WDA 2021 (Pa. Super.); Lutz v. Portfolio Recovery 
Assocs., No. 21-1656 (3d Cir.); and Zirpoli v. Midland Funding 
LLC, No. 21-2438 (3d Cir.). But, of her experiences to date, she 
has most enjoyed working with clients affected by the recall 
of Philips’ CPAP and Bi-PAP devices, the subject of a mass tort 
pending in In Re: Philips Recalled CPAP, Bi-Level PAP, and 
Mechanical Ventilator Products Litigation, MDL 3014 (W.D. 
Pa.), of which East End is part of Plaintiffs’ leadership. 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

WESTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

BLAIR DOUGLASS, on behalf of himself and all 

others similarly situated, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

iFIT INC., 

Defendant. 

Civil Action No. 2:23-cv-00917-MJH 

ORDER GRANTING PLAINTIFF’S UNOPPOSED MOTION 

TO CERTIFY CLASS FOR SETTLEMENT PURPOSES AND 

FOR PRELIMINARY APPROVAL OF CLASS ACTION SETTLEMENT 

WHEREAS, the parties in the above-captioned litigation have advised the Court that they 

have settled the litigation, the terms of which have been memorialized in a proposed class action 

settlement agreement (“the Agreement”); 

WHEREAS, Plaintiff has applied to this Court through a motion for an order (1) certifying 

the class for settlement purposes, (2) granting preliminary approval of the Agreement resolving all 

claims in the above-captioned matter, (3) directing notice to the class, and (4) setting a final 

approval hearing; and 

WHEREAS, the Court has read and considered Plaintiff’s Motion to Certify Class for 

Settlement Purposes and for Preliminary Approval of Class Action Settlement (“Motion”), the 

points and authorities and exhibits submitted therewith, the Agreement, and all of the supporting 

documents, and good cause appearing; 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED: 

1. This order incorporates by reference the definitions in the Agreement, and all terms 

defined therein shall have the same meaning in this order as set forth in the Agreement. 
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2. Plaintiff’s Motion is GRANTED. It appears to this Court on a preliminary basis 

that the Agreement satisfies the elements of Fed. R. Civ. P. 23 and is fair, adequate, and reasonable. 

3. The proposed Settlement Class is hereby preliminarily certified pursuant to Fed. R. 

Civ. P. 23(a) and (b)(2) for purposes of settlement. The Settlement Class is defined as: 

All Blind or Visually Disabled persons who have accessed, attempted to access, or 

been deterred from attempting to access, or who will access, attempt to access, or 

be deterred from accessing iFIT’s Digital Properties, which include 

https://www.nordictrack.com/, https://www.proform.com/, 

https://freemotionfitness.com/, and https://www.ifit.com/] from the United States. 

4. The Court finds that Plaintiff Blair Douglass will fairly and adequately protect the 

interests of the Settlement Class. As a result, the Court appoints and designates Mr. Douglass as 

representative of the Settlement Class. 

5. The Court finds that attorneys Kevin Tucker, Kevin Abramowicz, Chandler 

Steiger, and Stephanie Moore of East End Trial Group LLC are experienced and competent 

counsel who will continue to fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Settlement Class. As 

a result, the Court appoints and designates attorneys Tucker, Abramowicz, Steiger, and Moore as 

Class Counsel for the Settlement Class. 

6. The Court finds that the Long-Form Notice attached to the Agreement as Exhibit 1 

and the notice plan attached to the pending motion as Exhibit 2 meet due process requirements, 

the requirements of Rules 23(c)(2) and 23(e) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, and ensure 

notice is well calculated to reach representative class members. The notice and notice plan are 

hereby approved. 

7. Within twenty-one (21) days of this Order, ____________________, iFIT shall, at 

its expense: 
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(a) Add dates to the placeholders in the Long-Form Notice accompanying the 

Agreement as Exhibit 1. 

(b) Ensure the Settlement Website is live and may be accessed over the internet. 

iFIT shall further ensure the Settlement Website tracks the number of visitors to the Settlement 

Website, and the Settlement Website remains published for at least sixty (60) days after the date 

the Court grants final approval of the Agreement. 

(c) Cause the Long-Form Notice to be published on, and make the following 

documents filed in this Lawsuit available for download on, the Settlement Website: the class action 

complaint, motion for preliminary approval of class action settlement and supporting documents, 

and the Court’s orders concerning preliminary approval as well as any supporting memorandum. 

iFIT shall ensure the Settlement Website and the documents identified in this Subsection shall be 

fully accessible by individuals who use screen reader auxiliary aids. 

(d) Add invisible anchor text in the header of the Website’s and Mobile App’s 

homepages which reads, “Click to view our ADA Class Action Settlement Notice regarding our 

commitment to ensure iFIT’s websites and mobile applications are accessible” and which links to 

the Settlement Website. 

8. Within seven (7) days after Plaintiff moves for payment of the reasonable attorney’s 

fees and Costs described in Section 20.1 in accordance with the deadline set under Section 22.3, 

iFIT shall make any motion for attorneys’ fees and costs, and supporting documentation, available 

for download on the Settlement Website. In addition, as soon as practicable, but no later than 

seven (7) calendar days after any Court order on Plaintiff’s motion for attorneys’ fees and costs, 

iFIT shall make the order available for download on the Settlement Website. 
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9. Within twenty-one (21) days of this Order, ____________________, (the “Notice 

Deadline”), Class Counsel shall, at its expense, request that at least the following organizations 

publish notice in the form set forth below in their respective electronic newsletters and social media 

accounts such that the notice is sent out within sixty (60) days of this Order, 

____________________: Achieva, American Action Fund for Blind Children and Adults, 

American Council of the Blind, American Foundation for the Blind, Blinded American Veterans 

Foundation, Blinded Veterans Association, Foundation Fighting Blindness, Guide Dogs for the 

Blind, National Association of Blind Merchants, National Council on Disability, and National 

Federation of the Blind. The notice shall read as follows: 

A proposed settlement has been reached that would resolve the class action lawsuit 

Douglass v. iFIT Inc., No. 2:23-cv-00917 (W.D. Pa.). The lawsuit alleges that iFIT 

Inc. violated the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12101, et seq. by 

failing to take the necessary steps to ensure its website, 

https://www.nordictrack.com/, and its mobile app, iFIT At-Home Workout & 

Fitness, do not discriminate against blind or visually disabled consumers who use 

screen reader auxiliary aids to access digital content. Under the settlement, iFIT 

Inc. agrees to take additional steps to make these and other websites and mobile 

apps, including any new website or mobile app it develops or acquires, accessible 

to blind or visually disabled consumers. 

For a more complete summary of the terms of the proposed settlement, please visit 

https://www.iFITADAsettlement.com. 

10. No fewer than five (5) calendar days before the fairness hearing scheduled in this 

Lawsuit, ____________________, iFIT shall file a declaration from the stipulated class action 

settlement administrator that summarizes the work the administrator performed and the number of 

visitors to the Settlement Website. 

11. Within sixty (60) days of this Order, ____________________, Defendant or 

Defendant’s counsel shall file a declaration evidencing Defendant’s compliance with this order. 
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12. Within sixty (60) days of this Order, ____________________, Class Counsel shall 

file a declaration evidencing its compliance with this order. 

13. Within forty-five (45) days of the Notice Deadline, ____________________, 

Plaintiff shall move for reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. 

14. Within sixty (60) days of the Notice Deadline, ____________________, any 

Settlement Class Member may object to the Agreement by filing written objections with the Clerk 

of the Court (“Objection Deadline”). Only such objecting Settlement Class Members shall have 

the right, and only if they expressly seek it in their objection, to present objections orally at the 

final approval hearing. 

15. No fewer than five (5) calendar days before the fairness hearing scheduled in this 

Lawsuit, ____________________, the parties shall respond to any timely-filed objections. 

16. Within one hundred twenty (120) days of this Order, ____________________, 

Plaintiff shall move for final approval and for reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. 

17. A final approval hearing shall be held before this Court on ___________________, 

2024 at _____ ET in the United States District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania, 

located at Joseph F. Weis Jr. U.S. Courthouse, 700 Grant Street, Courtroom 8A, Pittsburgh, PA 

15219, to determine whether the Agreement shall be granted final approval, and to address any 

related matters. 

18. The final approval hearing may, from time to time and without further notice to the 

Settlement Class Members (except those who have filed timely objections or entered appearances), 

be continued or adjourned by order of the Court. 
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19. Counsel for the parties are hereby authorized to utilize all reasonable procedures in 

connection with the administration of the Agreement which are not materially inconsistent with 

either this order or the terms of the Agreement. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

Dated: 

Marilyn J. Horan 

United States District Judge 
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